#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2008-CA-01532

PREFERRED TRANSPORT COMPANY, LLC

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

CLAIBORNE COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

**APPELLEES** 

**AND** 

CLAIBORNE COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

**CROSS-APPELLANTS** 

VS.

PREFERRED TRANSPORT COMPANY, LLC

**CROSS-APPELLEE** 

From the Circuit Court of Claiborne County, Mississippi

# RESPONSE BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT/CROSS-APPELLEE PREFERRED TRANSPORT COMPANY, LLC

Respectfully submitted on the 1st day of July, 2009,

Robert C. Latham (MSB Jeremy P. Diamond (MSB TRULY, SMITH & LATHAM, P.L.L.C. P.O. Box 1307
Natchez, MS 39121

Telephone: (601) 442-6496 Facsimile: (601) 442-8874

#### **INTRODUCTION**

The Claiborne County Board of Supervisors ("Board"), on a pretext, accepted a higher bid and awarded the solid waste collection contract to HomeBase Litter Control, LLC. In the case at bar, the pretext was a vague, ill defined requirement of the economic development benefits provided by hiring a "true" local contractor (i.e. resident of the County as opposed to the State of Mississippi). The Boards reliance on the economic development and "true" local contractor pretext was a *post hoc* determination to justify their decision in the face of a lower bid submitted by an established and reliable company, Preferred Transport Company, LLC, the Appellant. The Board *did not* include these requirements in its request for proposal or advertisement. Therefore, the Board obviously did not consider the economic development and resident local contractor factors until it was faced with its predetermined contractor, HomeBase Litter Control, not being the lowest and best bidder. As a result of their procedurally flawed contract award to HomeBase Litter Control, the Board unreasonably expended public money in the annual amount of \$127,636.68, which is the difference between the bids submitted by Appellant and HomeBase Litter Control.

For the purpose of this Brief, Appellant will be referring to the Board of Supervisors as a whole. However, it is important to note that Supervisors Mott Headley, Jr. and Charles Shorts voted in favor of the motion awarding the contract to the Appellant; whereas, Supervisors Allen Burks, Michael Wells and Ronald Shoulders voted against the motion awarding the contract to the Appellant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Appellant does not concede that the Board has the authority to include notions of economic development or resident contractor preferences in their advertisements for bids. Appellant submits that any other relevant factors considered must be related to the service being advertised. However, in this case the considered factors were not included in the Board's advertisement, so this issue is not before the Court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Board subsequently negotiated with HomeBase Litter Control to reduce its per household rate to \$11.00 resulting in a excess annual expenditure of \$48,604.68.

The bidding requirement for the case at bar requires competitive sealed bids. See Miss. Code Ann. § 31-7-13(c) & (r). "The purpose of the law is to protect the public by promoting competition so as to prevent fraud, favoritism and the like." Hemphill Construction Company, Inc. v. City of Laurel, Miss., 760 So. 2d 720, 724 (Miss. 2000). In requiring contracts with public entities be let only after competitive bidding "is to secure economy. . .in the expenditures of public funds. . .; to protect the public from collusive contracts; . . and to promote actual, honest, and effective competition" so that all bids may be in competition on the same basis. See Hemphill Construction Company, 760 So. 2d at 724. Furthermore, any requirements considered by the public entity "shall be duly included in the advertisement to elicit proposals." See Miss. Code Ann. § 31-7-13(r) (emphasis added). Appellant submits that the notions of openness, fairness, and effective competition in the bidding process was not accomplished in this case. Appellant recognizes that public entities are vested with some discretion, but this discretion is only granted where the public entity acted within the relevant statutory guideline set for by the Mississippi Legislature. This case is illustrative of the public entity acting outside of its statutory authority.

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED

- A. Whether the Trial Court correctly found that the Claiborne County Board of Supervisors acted without any statutory authority by considering factors not included in the solid waste collection Request for Proposal?
- B. Whether the Trial Court erred by not awarding the solid waste collection contract to Preferred Transport Company, LLC as having the lowest and the best bid?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant is satisfied and incorporates by reference its Statement of the Case as set for in its Brief filed March 2, 2009.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The requirement that all relevant factors be included in the bid documents protects the openness, fairness and competitive nature of the bid process. Furthermore, this is a mandatory requirement under § 31-7-13(r) of the Mississippi Code Annotated. The public entity is given no discretion or deference in complying with this statutory requirement. The Claiborne County Board of Supervisors' failure to follow the letter of the law is procedural error making their decision to award the solid waste collection contract to HomeBase Litter Control illegal. Therefore, the contract award to HomeBase Litter Control should be held for naught. The trial court correctly held that the Board acted outside of its statutory authority by considering factors that were not included in the Request for Proposal. Since the Board acted illegally, the Board is not entitled to any deference in reviewing its decision. The relevant statutory language is clear and this Court should give it its plain meaning. Furthermore, Appellant submits that the purpose of the statute and the reasoning of the legislature is clear in that it seeks to protect the openness, fairness, and competitive nature of the bidding process. To uphold the Board's actions in the case at bar, the Court would be granting carte blanche authority in awarding public contracts and it would nullify the purpose of requiring sealed bids for certain expenditures. Therefore, this Court should uphold the trial court's findings that the Appellee acted illegally and outside the scope of its authority.

As a result of the trial court finding that the Board acted outside of its authority, the trial court should have awarded the solid waste collection contract to the actual lowest and best

bidder, Preferred Transport Company, LLC, the Appellant. Instead the trial court allowed the Board to re-bid the contract. In effect, the trial court gave the Board the opportunity to rehabilitate its prior illegal act by giving it a second bite at the apple at ensuring their preferred bidder gets the contract. However, this does not address the underlying problem, that the Board acted illegally and without statutory authority in awarding the contract to HomeBase Litter Control. It is important to note that the Board's decision in awarding the contract was based entirely on the factors not included in the advertisement to elicit proposals. The applicable statute requires that the trial court award the contract as it should have been awarded had the Claiborne County Board of Supervisors followed the law. In the case at bar, that would require the solid waste collection contract to be awarded to Preferred Transport Company, LLC, the Appellant, as the lowest and best bidder. Therefore, this Court should reverse the trial court's order to rebid the solid waste collection contract, and to order the Board to award the contract to the Appellant as the lowest and best bidder.

However, if it is too late to render the correct decision and award the solid waste collection contract to Preferred Transport Company, LLC, the Court can award compensatory damages and attorney's fees. Absent the contract award, Appellant can be made whole by an award of compensatory damages and attorney's fees. Furthermore, by awarding damages, this Court is upholding the public bid laws and the legislative intent to protect the veracity of the competitive bid process. Appellant can prove that as a result of the Appellees' actions it has incurred compensatory damages in the approximate amount of \$408,490.00, which is the net profit to be derived from the contract and other costs incurred as a result of the Board's illegal actions. Therefore, absent an award of the contract, this Court should remand this matter to the trial court for a hearing on the Appellant's damages.

## **LAW AND ARGUMENT**

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT THE CLAIBORNE COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS EXCEEDED ITS AUTHORITY IN AWARDING THE SOLID WASTE COLLECTION CONTRACT TO HOMEBASE LITTER CONTROL.

The Appellees argue that the lower court "made no findings that the decision of the Claiborne County Board of Supervisors was arbitrary, capricious, discriminatory, illegal or without substantial evidentiary basis." See Appellee's Brief at pgs. 16-17. Appellees conclude that the trial court should not have disturbed its decision and that the Appellant did not meet its burden in this case. Id. at pg. 17. However, Appellees' conclusion ignores the clear finding of the trial court that "the BOS's [Board of Supervisors] decision to award the contract to HBLC [HomeBase Litter Control] exceeded its discretion. See Memorandum and Order; R. Vol. 3, pg. 287 (emphasis added). The trial court found that the Appellees acted illegally or "beyond the scope or power granted to the board by statute." See Hinds County Bd. of Supervisors v. Leggette, 833 So. 2d 586, 590 (Miss. 2002) (citing Board of Law Enforcement Officers Standards & Training v. Butler, 672 So. 2d 1196, 1199 (Miss. 1996)).

Contrary to their argument, the Appellees are not entitled to the greater degree of deference generally granted in these cases where there is no explicit or implied legislative authority supporting their actions. *See Hemphill Construction Co., Inc. v. City of Laurel, Miss.*, 760 So. 2d 720, 723-724 (Miss. 2000). "Municipalities have only such powers as are expressly granted or necessarily implied by statutes [and] such powers are to be construed most strongly against an asserted right, if the right is not clearly given." *Id.*; *citing City of Jackson v. McMurry*, 288 So. 2d 23 (Miss. 1974). Furthermore, if it is not ambiguous, "the court should simply apply the statute according to its plain meaning and should not use principles of statutory construction."

See Estate of Klaus v. Vicksburg Healthcare, LLC, 972 So. 2d 555, 556 (Miss. 2007).

The governing statutory authority on bidding procedures for solid waste contracts states:

[a]ny request for proposal when issued *shall contain* terms and conditions relating to price, financial responsibility, technology, legal responsibilities and other relevant factors as are determined by the governing authority or agency to be appropriate for inclusion; all factors determined relevant by the governing authority or agency or required by this paragraph (r) *shall be duly included in the advertisement to elicit proposals*.

Miss. Code. Ann. § 31-7-13(r) (emphasis added). The Legislature's use of "shall" leaves no room to imply any authority or discretion beyond that explicitly granted in the statute.

Assuming that the Appellees could make the local residency of the contractor and the possibility of some economic development opportunities "relevant factors" in the procurement of a public contract, as the they did in the case at bar, the issue would turn on whether those factors were included in the bid documents as required by the statute. If these factors were used as a basis for the Board's decision and they were not included in the bid documents, than the Appellees violated § 31-7-13(c) & (r) and they are not entitled to the greater deference in their decision to award the solid waste contract to HomeBase Litter Control and the trial court correctly overturned the County's decision.

In the case at bar, the Board of Supervisors official minutes dated March 3, 2008, make perfectly clear that the preference given to the residency of the contractors and the notion of economic development as relevant factors in awarding the public contract was decided after the bids were unsealed and opened. The Board Attorney advised, at the request of the Board President and in the meeting, that the Board should consider "price, technology, and other relevant factors." See Board of Supervisor Minutes dated March 3, 2008; r. Vol. 1, pg. 118. He expounded on what "other relevant factors" means by stating "these factors could include matters

such as local employment, local access, and providing economic development opportunities to qualified local residents." *Id.* By using these factors, the Appellees awarded the contract to a higher bidder, HomeBase Litter Control, and rejected the lowest bid of Preferred Transport who held this contract for the past six and one-half years. Furthermore, it is clear from the record that these "new" factors was the only basis for the Board awarded the contract to HomeBase Litter Control instead of the Appellant.

The requirement that all relevant factors be included in the bid documents protects the openness, fairness and competitive nature of the bid process. It also ensures that the governmental authority is evaluating bids on the same terms so as to choose the lowest and best bid. Furthermore, the statutory authority requires that all relevant factors, as determined by the governing authority, *shall* be included in the bid documents. The legislature granted no deference to the governing authority or entity with regard to this requirement. As such, the Appellees are not entitled to any deference in their decision as it violates the legislative mandate. The trial court found that the Appellees acted illegally, or outside of their statutory authority. The trial court correctly held that the Appellees violated the applicable statutory authority by considering factors not included in the bid documents. Therefore, this Court should uphold the lower court's finding that the Appellees acted illegally or without any statutory authority in considering factors that were not included in the advertisements to elicit proposals for the solid waste collection contract.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DEVIATING FROM THE STATUTORY RELIEF, OR ALTERNATIVELY NOT AWARDING COMPENSATORY DAMAGES, WHERE IT FOUND THE CLAIBORNE COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS ACTED ILLEGALLY.

Appellant submits that Mississippi Code Ann. § 11-51-75 is the governing statute on appealing the decision of the Board of Supervisors in the case at bar. It states that "[i]f the judgment be reversed, the circuit court *shall render such judgment* as the board or municipal authorities ought to have rendered, and certify the same to the board of supervisors or municipal authorities." *See Miss. Code Ann. § 11-51-75* (emphasis added). Although the trial court reversed the decision of the Board, it allowed the Board to rebid the contract so it can rehabilitate its illegal actions, which will ensure that the contract is awarded to its predetermined choice. *See Memorandum and Order; R. Vol. 3, pg. 287.* 

The relief granted in the case at bar is at odds with the statutory authority. To allow such relief to stand undermines the integrity of the bidding process as no aggrieved bidder will be willing to incur the expense of challenging a public entities' illegal actions if this is the relief to be granted. When the trial court found that the Board acted outside of its authority, it is required to award the contract to as it ought to have been awarded. In this case, Preferred Transport Company, LLC was not only the dollar wise lowest, but it was the best bid given its capacity to perform the work and considering its past performance of this contract in Claiborne County, Mississippi. Therefore, this Court should reverse the trial court's relief of rebidding the contract and to award the solid waste collection contract to Preferred Transport Company, LLC as the lowest and best bidder.

The trial court not only allowed the Board to rebid the contract, but it also allowed HomeBase Litter Control to continue servicing the contract until such time that it is rebid. It is

hard to imagine that the Board would not ensure that HomeBase Litter Control was the successful bidder in any future advertisements to elicit proposals. Therefore, the ordered relief is further unreliable in ensuring the law is followed by the Board in awarding this contract under new solicitations. At the end of the day, the Appellant will still be aggrieved by the Board's illegal actions. In similar case, this Court has recognized that awarding the contract how it ought to have need awarded is no always an available remedy where substantial or complete performance has occurred under the contract that was illegally awarded to another contractor. See City of Durant v. Laws Construction Company, Inc., 721 So. 2d 598 (Miss. 1998); see also Hemphill Construction Company, Inc., 760 So. 2d 720 (Miss. 2000); see also David Richardson, et al v. Canton Farm Equipment, Inc., 608 So. 2d 1240 (Miss. 1992).

In City of Durant, this Court upheld a circuit court's award of compensatory damages and attorney's fees where the circuit court sat as an appellate court under § 11-51-75. See City of Durant, 721 So. 2d 598 (Miss. 1998). The City of Durant Court rejected the argument that a jury is required where damages are being considered and awarded. Id. at 607. It held:

The Circuit Court found that the contract was illegally granted to King and this Court is in agreement with this determination. Even under the plain language of the statute, it seems that the circuit court had the authority to render such judgment as the board or municipal authorities ought to have rendered by awarding the contract to [appellant]. By doing so then [appellant] has a contract claim for breach and contract damages since the City allowed another company to provide the same service that [appellant] had a legal right to perform. Compensatory damages under the law of contracts are the proper measure of damages for an aggrieved bidder which was entitled to the award of the contract. Therefore, this Court holds that [appellant] is entitled to damages measured by the law of contracts where a complete and adequate remedy is available, the enforcement of the statutory bid laws are upheld and legislative intent to make sure that public contracts are awarded on a competitive basis and not for any other purpose is reinforced.

City of Durant, 721 So. 2d at 606 (emphasis added). Furthermore, the circuit court in City of

Durant ordered discovery on the issue of damages and held a separate hearing to determine the amount of damages the appellant was entitled to as a result of the breach of contract. *Id.* at 601.

In the case at bar, the trial court found that the Appellees acted illegally and contrary to the applicable statutory authority by awarding the contract to HomeBase Litter Control. However, the trial court allowed HomeBase Litter Control to continue performing under this illegal contract award until such time that the Appellees rebid the contract. HomeBase Litter Control has expended significant sums of money to perform under the illegal contract. Therefore, as in City of Canton, Hemphill, and Richardson, the only relief available to make the Appellant whole is compensatory damages under the law of contracts as an aggrieved bidder. For the Court to uphold the relief granted in this case or to take the contract from HomeBase Litter Control would have the effect of not holding Claiborne County Board of Supervisors liable for their illegal actions. Furthermore, upholding the relief granted or taking the contract from HomeBase Litter Control does nothing to ensure that the enforcement of the statutory bid laws are upheld and that the legislative intent to make sure public contracts are awarded on a competitive basis and not for any other purpose are reinforced. Therefore, Appellant moves this Court to reverse the trial court's relief as order and remand this matter for a hearing on the Appellant's damages as a result of the Board's illegal actions.

#### **CONCLUSION**

WHEREFORE, PREMISES CONSIDERED, Appellant moves this Court uphold the trial court's findings that the Claiborne County Board of Supervisors acted outside its statutory authority in awarding the contract for solid waste collection and that it is not entitled to any discretion as a result of its statutory violation. Appellant moves this Court to reverse the trial court's ordered relief to rebid the solid waste collection contract as it violates the statutory relief for this case. Appellant moves this Court to order the trial court to award the solid waste collection contract to it as required by the statutory authority. In the alternative, Appellant moves this Court to award the Appellant compensatory damages as a result of the Appellees' illegal action and to remand this matter to the trial court for a hearing on the amount of damages incurred by the Appellant.