IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

PREFERRED TRANSPORT COMPANY, LLC

APPELLANT

v.

CAUSE NO. 2008-CA-01532

CLAIBORNE COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

APPELLEES

AND

CLAIBORNE COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

CROSS-APPELLANTS

v.

CAUSE NO. 2008-CA-01532

PREFERRED TRANSPORT COMPANY, LLC

CROSS-APPELLEE

Appealed from the Circuit Court of Claiborne County, Mississippi

BRIEF OF APPELLEES/CROSS-APPELLANTS

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

PREPARED BY:

J. LAWSON HESTER [MSB#

JACQUELINE H. RAY [MSB#

PAGE, KRUGER, & HOLLAND, P.A.

Post Office Box 1163

Jackson, Mississippi 39215-1163

Telephone #: (601) 420-0333

Facsimile #: (601) 420-0033

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEES/CROSS-APPELLANTS

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

Miss. Code Ann. § 31-7-13(d) is entitled "Lowest and best bid procedure." Subsection (i) specifies that "[p]urchases may be made from the lowest and best bidder." In its Request for Proposals for Solid Waste Collection, the Board reserved the right to reject "any or all Proposals" and to accept the "lowest and best proposal," while specifically not obligating itself to accept the

¹ The Board's initial Request for Proposals for Solid Waste Collection stated that the Board "reserve[d] the right to reject any or all Proposals . . . and to retain[] the right to accept the lowest and best proposal for its citizens and is not obligated to accept the cheapest proposal." Thus, Preferred Transport was aware (or should have been aware)

cheapest proposal. In the event the governing authority which solicited the bids does not select the lowest bid, it is required by Miss. Code Ann. § 31-7-13(d)(i) to "place on its minutes detailed calculations and narrative summary showing that the accepted bid was determined to be the lowest and best bid, including the dollar amount of the accepted bid and the dollar amount of the lowest bid." See Nelson, supra at 943 (holding that the minimal, requisite 'detailed calculations' pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 31-7-13(d)(i) may be met "by citing the dollar amounts of the lowest bid and the accepted bid.") In this instance, the minutes include both the dollar amounts of the lowest bid and the accepted bid as well as a detailed summary of the rationale behind its decision. Thus, at all times herein, the Board was in compliance with Mississippi law and no grounds exist for a finding to the contrary.

B. Whether the Decision of the Claiborne County Board of Supervisors to Accept the Bid of HomeBase Litter Control was Arbitrary, Capricious, Discriminatory, Illegal and not Supported by Substantial Evidence

The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that the decision of a Board of Supervisors *must* be upheld unless the decision "is clearly shown to be arbitrary, capricious, or discriminatory or is illegal or without substantial evidentiary basis." *Billy E. Burnett, Inc.*, 940 So.2d at 243. *See also Golden Triangle Regional Solid Waste Management Authority v. Concerned Citizens Against Location of the Landfill*, 722 So.2d 648, 652 (Miss. 1998). The terms "arbitrary" and "capricious" were defined by the Mississippi Supreme Court in *Burks v. Amite County School Dist.*, 708 So.2d 1366, 1370 (Miss. 1998) (citing *McGowan v. Mississippi State Oil & Gas Bd.*, 604 So.2d 312, 322 (Miss. 1992). "An act is arbitrary when it is not done according to reason or judgment, but depending on the will alone." *Id.* "Capricious" is defined as any act done without reason, in a whimsical manner, implying either a lack of understanding of or a disregard for the surrounding facts and settled controlling

principles." *Id.* "Substantial evidence" has been defined as "such relevant evidence as reasonable minds might accept as adequate to support a conclusion" or to put it simply, more than a "mere scintilla" of evidence. *Johnson v. Ferguson*, 435 So.2d 1191, 1195 (Miss. 1983). Importantly, the decision of a local governing board is *presumed* valid, and the burden is upon the person seeking to set it aside to show that it was arbitrary, capricious and unreasonable. *Board of Aldermen, City of Clinton v. Conerly*, 509 So.2d 877, 884 (Miss. 1987); *Walters v. City of Greenville*, 751 So.2d 1206, 1211 (Miss.App. 1999). At the trial court level, Appellants had "the burden of proving that the decision rendered was arbitrary, capricious, discriminatory, or beyond the legal authority of the city's board or unsupported by substantial evidence." *McWaters v. City of Biloxi*, 591 So.2d 824, 827 (Miss. 1991). Preferred Transport did not prove and the lower court made no finding that the actions of the Board were arbitrary and/or capricious.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that a rebuttable presumption exists in favor of decisions of a Board of Supervisors. Miss. Comm'n. on Envt'l. Quality v. Chickasaw County Bd. of Supervisors, 621 So.2d 1211, 1215 (Miss. 1993). Further, when it comes to determining the lowest and best bidder, "public boards are vested with a sound discretion" which, when properly exercised, will not be interfered with by the courts. Mississippi State Building Commission v. Becknell Construction, Inc., 329 So.2d 57, 59-60 (Miss. 1976). The term "fairly debatable" has been deemed the opposite of arbitrary and capricious. Mathis v. City of Greenville, 724 So.2d 1109, 1112 (Miss.App. 1998); Saunders v. City of Jackson, 511 So.2d 902, 906 (Miss. 1987). Although the Board's decision may not have pleased all of the bidders for the collection of Claiborne County's solid waste, nor all of the citizens of Claiborne County, to do so would be an impossibility. The Board's decision to award the contract to HomeBase constitutes a fairly debatable decision, which should not be overturned; it, axiomatically, was not contrary to law or either arbitrary or capricious

as those terms are defined under Mississippi law.

In Fondren North Renaissance v. Mayor of Jackson, 749 So.2d 974, 977 (Miss. 1999), the Mississippi Supreme Court noted that the public need to have the property re-zoned is considered to be "fairly debatable" where the development of the subject property is potentially of great benefit to the city and there is little indication that the best interests of the city would be served by the continued undeveloped status of the property. In the matter sub judice, there can be no question that the possibility of bringing economic growth and development to the County would be of great benefit. Further, the Board and citizens of Claiborne County are in the best position to determine what constitutes a benefit to their home County. The Board's decision was not made in a whimsical manner or without reason; rather, it was made in accordance with statutory procedures established to ensure the measured consideration of such matters. The minutes reflect the deliberative process, and show that Preferred Transport was afforded ample due process and a meaningful opportunity to be heard in support of its bid. See Mayor and Bd. of Aldermen, City of Clinton v. Welch, 888 So.2d 416, 429-30 (Miss. 2004) (holding that the fact that the issue was debated at great length supports a finding that the decision was fairly debatable). Preferred Transport has failed to meet its burden in establishing the actions of the Board to be arbitrary and capricious for purposes of judicial review. Clearly, the Board had, at a minimum, a fairly debatable basis for its determination, which in turn. cannot be characterized as either arbitrary or capricious, or without substantial evidence, considering the on-the-record findings of the Board. The Board's decision should be affirmed in all respects.

C. Whether the Trial Court Erred by not Awarding Preferred Transport Compensatory Damages and Attorney's Fees

Preferred Transport cites City of Durant v. Laws Constr. Co., 721 So.2d 598 (Miss. 1998) for the proposition that an award of compensatory damages against the Board is appropriate in this

situation. However, in *City of Durant*, there was a finding of breach of contract. *Id.* at 606. The Court's holding in *City of Durant* provides no authority for an award of damages in the present case as no contract between the parties was entered into, nor has the Appellant ever asserted or made a claim for breach of contract. In fact, the jurisdiction of this Court is limited by statute to a *review* of the decision-making process of the decision-making body (i.e. the Board of Supervisors) from which the appeal was taken. Thus, there is no procedural vehicle by which to award damages.

The Claiborne County Board of Supervisors is also immune from suit and the imposition of damages based on legislative immunity. In Bogan v. Scott-Harris, 523 U.S. 44, 118 S.Ct. 966, 971 (1998), the United States Supreme Court determined that legislative immunity was not only for actual legislators, but also applied to "inferior legislative bodies, such as boards of supervisors, county commissioners, city councils, and the like." The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that absolute immunity attaches to the actions taken by the Board "in the sphere of legitimate legislative activity." Bond v. Marion County Bd. of Sup'rs, 807 So.2d 1208, 1221 (Miss. 2001) (quoting Bogan at 54, 118 S.Ct. at 972). Further, judicial review of any action taken by a board of supervisors is "restricted and narrow in scope in that the actions of the Board are a legislative function and presumed to be valid." Barnes v. Board of Supervisors, DeSoto County, MS, 553 So.2d 508, 512 (Miss. 1989) (citing Ridgewood Land Co. v. Moore, 222 So.2d 378 (Miss. 1969)). A reviewing court is bound by a board's decision where there has been a reasonable adjudication based on substantial evidence. Barnes, supra at 511. As discussed above, in determining which proposal was best for Claiborne County, the Board relied on numerous factors which were discussed on-the-record in an open forum. The minutes reflect that the Board made a reasonable decision based on substantial evidence and, as such, their decision should stand. Based on the legislative immunity afforded the Appellees, there is no basis for an award of damages.

A request for damages against the Appellees necessarily implicates the Mississippi Tort Claims Act which is the exclusive remedy of any person or unit wishing to file a claim against a state entity or a political subdivision thereof. The Mississippi Tort Claims Act sets forth procedures a claimant must follow in order to assert a claim against a government entity. Although no damages are warranted in this situation, any such demand would necessarily come under the province of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act and Preferred Transport would be required to follow the procedures set forth therein to make a claim under the Act. The relevant rule states:

After all procedures within a governmental entity have been exhausted, any person having a claim for injury arising under the provisions of this chapter against a governmental entity or its employee shall proceed as he might in any action at law or in equity; provided, however, that ninety (90) days prior to maintaining an action thereon, such person shall file a notice of claim with the chief executive officer of the governmental entity.

§ 11-46-11(1). Because the Claiborne County Board of Supervisors is a political subdivision of the state, the Appellant is subject to the requirements of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act and any claim for damages must be dismissed due to Preferred Transport's failure to give proper notice under § 11-46-11(1). See University Medical Center v. Easterling, 928 So.2d 815, 820 (Miss. 2006) (holding that where the plaintiff did not comply with the notice requirement, her claim was properly dismissed).

Any state law claims made against the Claiborne County Board of Supervisors are subject to and barred by the Mississippi Tort Claims Act, as codified at Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-1, et seq. Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-9 provides that a governmental entity and its employees acting within the course and scope of their employment shall not be liable for any claim based upon an act or omission enumerated therein. If the act or omissions fall under any one the subsections of Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-9, then the governmental entity is exempt from liability. Appellees, the Claiborne County

Board of Supervisors, are state actors pursuant to their performance of a public function and employment status. As such, in soliciting bids for the collection of solid waste, they were necessarily acting pursuant to and within the scope of their duties for the county and are necessarily immune from liability. Preferred Transport cannot recover the damages sought in this action against the Claiborne County Board of Supervisors.

To the extent this action against the Board as a whole may be seen as one against the members in their official capacities, they are shielded by sovereign immunity. If there could be any doubt as to whether the pertinent provisions of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act governed Appellant's claims for imposition of liability against the Board, or the governmental entity they represent, such doubt is removed by the Act's "exclusive remedy" provision found at § 11-46-7(1) and which states in pertinent part:

(1) The remedy provided by this chapter against a governmental entity or its employee is exclusive of any other civil action or civil proceeding by reason of the same subject matter against the governmental entity or its employee... for the act or omission which gave rise to the claim or suit; ...

Accordingly, the Act is the sole authority -- statutory or otherwise -- which governs the rights and liabilities of the parties to this action. As demonstrated below, the Act affords Preferred Transport absolutely no basis for any liability under state law, and, therefore, no relief from Appellees. To the extent that Appellant seeks monetary damages of, from or against the Board of Supervisors under the law of the State of Mississippi, the Appellant's claims and cause of action against the Appellees are barred by the provisions of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act, codified at Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-1 et seq. The Claiborne County Board of Supervisors is entitled to statutory, sovereign immunity regarding the claims made by the Appellant.

Additionally the Mississippi legislature has absolutely precluded the imposition of liability

for discretionary acts. "A governmental entity and its employees acting within the course and scope of their employment or duties shall not be liable for any claim . . . [b]ased upon the exercise or performance or the failure to exercise or perform a discretionary function or duty on the part of a governmental entity or employee thereof, whether or not the discretion be abused[.]" Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-9(1)(d). "A duty is discretionary if it requires the official to use her own judgment . . . in the performance of that duty." *Brewer v. Burdette*, 768 So.2d 920, 922 (Miss. 2000). The record clearly establishes that the complained of actions and omissions were discretionary in nature, and the Claiborne County Board of Supervisors, should be granted the protection and immunity of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act.

"[A] duty is ministerial and not discretionary if it is imposed by law and its performance is not dependent on the employee's judgment." *Mississippi Dep't of Transp. v. Cargile*, 847 So.2d 258, 267 (Miss. 2003) (citations omitted). "[T]he most important criterion is that if the duty is one which has been positively imposed by law and its performance required at a time and in a manner or upon conditions which are specifically designated, the duty to perform under the conditions specified not being dependent upon the officer's judgment or discretion, the act and discharge thereof is ministerial." *Id.* at 267-68 (citations omitted). The Appellant has not and cannot establish that the Claiborne County Board of Supervisors breached any ministerial duty with regard to the bidding process.

Lastly, absent some statutory authority or contractual provision, attorneys' fees cannot be awarded unless punitive damages are also proper. *Tupelo Redevelopment Agency v. Gray Corp., Inc.*, 972 So.2d 495 (Miss. 2007), (citing *Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Steele*, 373 So.2d 797, 801 (Miss.1979)). There is no statutory authority by which attorneys' fees may be granted in this situation. Punitive damages were not requested and are not warranted or allowed in this case as a

matter of law. In fact, Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-15(2) provides: "No judgment against a governmental entity or its employee for which any action or omission for which immunity is waived under this chapter shall include an award for exemplary or punitive damages or for interest ... or an award of attorney's fees. .." Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-15(2). Thus, neither an award of compensatory damages nor attorneys' fees would be justified against the Claiborne County Board of Supervisors.

CROSS-APPEAL

A. Whether the Trial Court Erred in Not Affirming the Actions of the Claiborne County Board of Supervisors *in toto*, Specifically Whether Requiring a Re-bid Regarding Solid Waste Disposal was in Error

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